

[Home](#)[About](#)[For Authors](#)[Browse](#)[Announcements](#)[Search](#)

## Home

The *Journal of Turkish Science Education* is for the publication of original peer-reviewed, research articles that address the science education with implications for improving and making original contributions to the field of science education at all levels across the world. TUSED is essentially concerned with science education but also welcomes manuscripts dealing with issues on the integration of science education with other disciplines, e.g., STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics) or, geography, environment, social sciences and the arts. Submissions that are out of scope of TUSED will not be considered for publication.

ISSN: 1304-

6020

## Information

[For Readers](#)[For Authors](#)[For Librarians](#)[Make a Submission](#)

[Home](#)[About](#)[For Authors](#)[Browse](#)[Announcements](#)[Search](#)[Home](#) / [Editorial Team](#)

### Editor-In-Chief

Prof. Dr. Salih Çepni

Professor, Science Education, Bursa Uludag University, Turkey

### Associate Editors

Richard Coll, University of the South Pacific, Fiji

Keith Taber, University of Cambridge, England

Dana Zeidler, University of South Florida, USA

Neil Taylor, University of New England, Australia

Georgias Tsapralis, University of Ioannina, Greece

William Cobern, Western Michigan University, USA

Yang-Hsueh Chen, National University of Tainan, Taiwan

Sibel Erduran, University of Oxford, England

Mansoor Niaz, Universidad de Oriente, Venezuela

Mehmet Aydeniz, The University of Tennessee, USA

Mustafa Sözbilir, Ataturk University, Turkey



editortused@gmail.com



1

**TUSED/TUFED EDITORÜ** <editortused@gmail.com>

to me

Dear Author;

Manuscript ID1384 which you submitted to TUSED, has been reviewed.

We are pleased to announce that your article is **accepted**. At this stage, there are two aspects

1) You should make sure you do proof-reading effectively in order to produce (https://www.oregda.com/). Please, while sending your article, you indicate that you sent editing.

2) Editorial board suggested that you include more references benefiting from articles published

Thank you for submitting your manuscript to the Journal of Turkish Science Education contributions to the Journal.

Sincerely,

Prof. Dr. Salih ÇEPNİ

Editorial Office, Journal of Turkish Science Education

No  
c  
Star



editortused@gmail.com



## [tused] Submission Acknowledgement Inbox x

**Salih Çepni** <editortused@gmail.com>

to me

M Haviz:

Thank you for submitting the manuscript, "Assessing Pre-Service Teachers' Perception on 21st cent system that we are using, you will be able to track its progress through the editorial process by loggi

Submission URL: <https://www.tused.org/index.php/tused/authorDashboard/submission/763>

Username: mhaviz

If you have any questions, please contact me. Thank you for considering this journal as a venue for

Salih Çepni

---

Journal of Turkish Science Education

[Reply](#)[Forward](#)

No  
c  
Star



editortused@gmail.com



1

About Your Article Inbox x**TUSED/TUFED EDITORÜ** <editortused@gmail.com>

to me

Dear Author;

We have reached a decision regarding your submission to Journal of Turkish Science Edu

Based on the reviewer's comments, we have decided that your manuscript needs revision form in below. Your manuscript will be re-evaluated, if you fix your article according to detailing the changes you have made.

## Comments of Reviewer 1

I reviewed the paper but could not complete the review because there are lots of grammar errors in sentences need to be re-written from scratch.

Could we suggest to the authors that they will have their paper reviewed by someone who is either a accordingly?

I am afraid no one can provide a positive review to this paper because it needs someone to review a proof-read and have someone fix the grammar and then re-submit to the TUSED journal.

No  
c  
Star

# Review

Article ID: 1384 (Assessing Pre-Service Teachers' Perception on 21st century Skills in Indonesia)

## Review Guidelines

(Indicate your answer by means of highlighting)

1. Importance of article/Relevance and Appeal to national / international scholarly	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
2. Original and Independent Research	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
3. Presentation and readability	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
4. Statement of problem(s)/aim(s)/objective(s)	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
5. Theoretical basis/Theoretical framework/Literature review/Clarification of concepts	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
6. Appropriateness of (if applicable)				
6.1. Research plan and design	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
6.2. Data-collection and procedure	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
6.3. Data analyses	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
6.4. Data presentation/Discussion	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
6.5. Conclusion/Recommendations	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
7. To what extent is the line of argumentation in the article clear, cohesive and logical?	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
8. Contribution to theory	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor
9. Contribution to practice	Excellent	Good	Moderate	Poor



## Comments for the attention of the Editor

In this study, a scale was developed to measure the 21st century skills of pre-service teachers. What is the profile of TAL in 21st century skills for pre-service teachers in MBPC? The 21st century skills profile of pre-service Mathematic, Biology, Physic, Chemistry teachers was investigated. Corrections and suggestions are presented in the file. I would like to review the author (s) again after making corrections.

## **Comments for the attention of both the Editor and the Author**

The reviews are in the original text. Author need to fix according to these reviews.

Main problems in the manuscript are especially;

- Problem status should be reviewed in relation to the study.
- Methodolgy needs improvement and clarity
- The discussion needs to be developed in line with the results.



## Final Decision

**(Please choose only 1 answer by means of highlighting)**

- a) Acceptable without revision
- b) Acceptable with revision not requiring reconsideration by referee
- c) Acceptable with revision requiring reconsideration by referee
- d) Resubmit Elsewhere

## Assessing Pre-Service Teachers' Perception on 21<sup>st</sup> century Skills in Indonesia

### ABSTRACT

This study was to assess pre-service teachers' perception of thinking, acting and living (TAL) in 21<sup>st</sup> century skills. The participants who have filled out this questionnaire were 321 pre-service teachers, consisting of 38 men and 283 women from a population of 403 pre-service teachers of mathematics, biology, physics and chemistry. The level of confidentiality value of the research participants was in the range of 3.70 - 5.40%. The questionnaire consisted of aspects of thinking, acting and living (TAL) of the 21<sup>st</sup> century skill, and it included 16 indicators and 78 statements. The quality of the instrument was achieved use confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) and alpha Cronbach tests. This study used the multiple comparisons with Tukey HSD and LSD test for factor of the 21<sup>st</sup> century skills. The result shows that the quality of instrument was valid and reliable. The TAL profile of the pre-service teachers was at the level of able tier, there is a different score of TAL for pre-service teachers, and there is a contribution of gender and department for TAL. The other findings indicate that the level of TAL for pre-service teacher in mathematic is related to physics, and biology is related to chemistry. Finally, this study confirms the use of appropriate learning methods to bring 21<sup>st</sup> century skills to pre-service teachers in mathematic, biology, physic and chemistry.

**Keywords** Pre-service teacher, 21<sup>st</sup> century skill, thinking acting and living, mathematic, biology, physic, chemistry

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Commented [reviewer1]: Are thinking, acting and living skills? If so, the sentence should be renewed in the form of thinking, acting, and ... skills from 21<sup>st</sup> century skills.

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Commented [reviewer2]: ??

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Commented [reviewer3]: Contribution?? I think the concept of effect should be used.

Formatted: Font color: Red, English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: Font color: Red, English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

## INTRODUCTION

In the last decade, the assessment of 21st century skills has been one of the "hottest" topics in the education (Geisinger, 2016). The term 21st century skills has been developed as a key concept and slogan in the field of education (Greiff & Kyllonen, 2016). Because these skills are needed by students to prepare themselves for life in the future (Larson & Miller, 2011), or after graduation (Kaufman, 2013). Including of aims for learning 21st century competencies in curricula has been also an important issue worldwide (Wang, Lavonen, & Tirri, 2018). Among the types of 21st century skills needed by students, are collaborative problem solving, complex problem solving, creativity, and digital information literacy (Geisinger, 2016). Some other 21st century skills include reasoning, collaboration and self-regulation (Ahonen & Kinnunen, 2015), creativity (Lucas, 2016), computer and information literacy (Ainley, Fraillon, Schulz, & Gebhardt, 2016).

There are relationships between several fields that become competencies for students with the process of learning (Greenstein, 2012). The 21st century learning process must involve students in learning-to-learn and collaborating-to-learn to promote thinking process such as critical thinking, creative thinking, and authentic problem-solving (Chai, Deng, Tsai, & Koh, 2015). Other 21st century skills are raised in learning are life and career skills, learning and innovation skills, and information media and technology skills (Trilling & Fadel, 2009). In addition, the 21st century skills is also include in curriculum development (Tunnicliffe, 2007; Burden & Hall, 2005; Rowland, 2007). The 21st century skills was also use in learning process at higher education (Williams, 2005; Tritschler, 2008), such as preparation ICT for pre-service teachers (Lambert & Gong, 2010; Fry & Seely, 2011), and learning evaluation of 21st century learning (DiCerbo, 2014).

There are articles was to investigated the type and factor of 21st century skills in learning process, such as the articles was conducted to develop the instrument of 21st century skill. Chai, Deng, Tsai, & Koh (2015) conducted multidimensional students' perceptions of twenty-first century learning practices and found that the validation of the survey yielded satisfactory reliability and validity through both exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses. The results also showed that the subscales that survey students' perceptions of critical thinking, creative thinking, and authentic problem-solving were more dominant predictors of their knowledge creation efficacy as compared to their perceptions about the learning processes. Muhammad & Osman (2010) used a survey method to compare students' science's thinking skills in Malaysia and Bruney, and found that the dimension of inventive thinking skills is comprised of adaptability and managing complexity, self direction, curiosity, creativity, risk taking and

Commented [reviewer4]: Scientific?

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)



higher order thinking and sound reasoning. Jia, Oh, Sibuma, LaBanca, & Lorentson (2016) developed the instrument to assess the 21st century skill for pre-service students and found that the analysis identified a three-construct scale including innovation and problem solving, collaboration, and utility of technology for pre-service teachers and a one-dimension scale, cross-functional skills, for in-service teachers. Ercikan & Oliveri (2016) also discussed this finding that and found that a case for three considerations that need to be addressed explicitly in assessments of complex constructs such as those captured under the 21st century skills/constructs label. Sang, Liang, Chai, Dong, & Tsai (2018) was conducted the teachers' actual and preferred perceptions of twenty-first century learning competencies and the results indicated that there was a clear gap between actual and preferred perceptions of twenty-first century learning.

In the last decade, the previous researchers were investigation the use of learning strategies and determine the factors of 21st century skill in mathematics and science. Kan'an (2018) determine the relationship between Jordanian students' 21st century skills (Cs21) and academic achievement in science and found that that urban and female students were better in acquiring the Cs21 21<sup>st</sup> century skills than rural and male students. Tokmak, Incikabi, & Ozgelen (2012) investigate the effect of technological, pedagogical, and content knowledge (TPACK)-based course design on mathematics, science, and literacy education pre-service teachers' TPACK and found that there were no significant differences between natural science (mathematics and science education) and social science (literacy) for pre-service teachers' TPACK. Chen (2014) investigate the teachers' belief systems about the nature and purposes of a phenomenon such as teaching and learning influence strongly how they teach and what students learn and achieve and found that the results strongly indicated a reliance on traditional Chinese teaching, but also identified some more student-centered teaching in Chinese middle schools. Bell (2010) investigated the use of project based learning for the future skill in 21st century and found that the students drive their own learning through inquiry, as well as work collaboratively to research and create projects that reflect their knowledge. Duran, Yaussy, & Yaussy (2011) has investigated about the integrating 21st century skills into science instruction and found that the meaningful and enjoyable student collaboration, the upbeat class environment, and the enhanced student engagement achieved at the conclusion of this challenging activity set an optimal teaching and learning environment for the entire quarter/semester. Haviz, Karomah, Delfita, Umar, & Maris (2018) has examined the generic science skill as 21st century skill and found that the students' generic science skills were considered to be part of generic science skills and 21st-century skills. There are other influential

**Commented [reviewer5]:** Which findings? Ercikan et al. (2016) discussed Sibuma et al (2016) findings?

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Formatted:** Superscript

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Commented [reviewer6]:** TPACK 21st century skill? If so, it needs to be supported by literature.

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Commented [reviewer7]:** Not related to this research

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Commented [reviewer8]:** Who are the students? Pre-service science teachers??

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

factors, such as gender, the type of skill that is more comprehensive, and the department where the students study. But this statement further study, for example conducting research on the assessment of student perceptions of the 21st century skills. Although in reality, few reports are found about students' perceptions or views of what 21st century skills they need, especially the reports about the assessment of student perceptions of the 21st century skills in class of mathematics and science.

### Thinking, Acting and Living as 21st Century Skill Competencies

The terminology of thinking is the term of variable make individuals to develop problem-solving skills, focusing on the importance of thinking in terms of variables (Unver, 2015). According to Greenstein (2012), thinking skills ~~are~~ is differentiated into critical, problem solving, creativity and metacognition. Critical thinking is the mode of thinking about any subject, content, or problem (Elder, 2007). There are several articles investigated about critical thinking, for example the research conducted by Wartono, Hudha, & Batlolona (2018). The study showed that there are 5 indicators of the critical thinking skills for senior high school students; elementary clarification, basic support, inference, advanced clarification, and strategies and tactics. In other study showed that analysis, evaluation, inference, interpretation, explanation, and self-organization sections was used to determine students' critical thinking skills (Duran & Dökme 2016). Problem solving is the basics process for identifying problems, considering options and making informed choices, and the step in problem solving are understand the problem, brainstorm all possible solutions, devise a plan, carry out the plan and evaluate the result (Greenstein, 2012). In other study showed that the effectiveness of the thinking strategy and visual representation approach in increasing students' achievement, conceptual knowledge, metacognitive, problem-solving strategies, and attitudes toward mathematical word problem solving among primary school students (Abdullah, Halim, & Zakaria, 2014). The students' quantitative problem solving skills was also improved in problem based learning environment (Argaw, Haile, Ayalew, & Kuma, 2017). The creativity becomes important for pre-service teachers (Bakır & Öztekin, 2014). Because creativity as the process related to experiences, the restriction of habits, new concepts in some problems and the abilities to solve the problems (Bélanger, Akre, Berchtold, & Michaud, 2011). In the article study, was written-conducted by Sener & Tas (2017) showed that there is a significant difference between the scores of the creative and creative thinking test of experimental and control groups when compared before and after teaching process. Metacognition includes the components and process base of knowledge (Damar, Özdemir, & Unal, 2015). The level of students'

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Commented [reviewer9]: ?

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)



metacognitive skills was raised after conducted integrated with think talk write teaching strategy (Listiana, Susilo, Suwono, & Suarsini, 2016), and metacognitive skills contributed to cognitive learning outcome was much greater than the contribution of learning motivation (Bahri & Corebima 2015).

The acting and living skill was different. According to Greenstein (2012), acting was divided into communication, collaboration, digital literacy, visual literacy and technology literacy. Common Core State Standards Initiative (2011) stated that the communication skills have been identified in practice education, such as identifying and using a variety of types of verbal communication such as conversation, debate, and persuasion, etc. Living in 21st century skill is divide to citizenship, global, leaderships and responsibility, college and career/workplace. Global definitions refer to the attitudes and principles that make it possible to interact with people from around the globe in ways that are intentionally peaceful, respectful and productive. Leaderships and responsibility include the terms visionary, relationships building, knowledgeable, collaborative and tactical. College and career/workplace skills is related to college ready having the academic skills, abilities and attributes to be prepared for any post-secondary education (Greenstein, 2012).

#### Aim and Research Question

Greenstein (2012) divides the 21st century skill into three groups which include in the learning process namely thinking, acting and living (TAL). Learning in higher education in Indonesia should refer to and apply the Indonesian national qualification framework and this framework requires students to master certain level of competences (Haviz, 2018). For example, based on Regulation of the Minister of Education and Culture of the Republic of Indonesia No. 73 year 2013, the undergraduate level has to master 6th and 7th levels. This regulation also mandates that learning outcomes were capabilities acquired through the internalization of knowledge, attitudes, skills, competencies, and accumulated work experience. Indonesian national qualification framework consist the 21st century skills, that has been written on this regulation. This research conduct developing TAL's instrument, investigated the profile of TAL and the relationships among the factors of 21st century skills. Therefore, the aim of the study to asses pre-service teachers' perception of TAL in 21st century skills. The research question were follows:

- RQ1: What is the quality of TAL's instrument in 21st century skills for pre-service teachers in MBPC?

**Commented [reviewer10]:** Is there a need for studies to develop these skills in order to explain the difference between metacognition, critical thinking skills and problem solving skills? The research presented here is often done to improve these skills. Instead, you should make detailed descriptions and reveal different aspects of each other.

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Commented [reviewer11]:** Further literature needs to be supported. Only Greenstein made this classification?

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)

**Commented [reviewer12]:** What is MBPC??

**Formatted:** English (United Kingdom)



- RQ2: What is the profile of TAL in 21st century skills for pre-service teachers in MBPC?
- RQ3: What is relationships among the factors of 21st century skill?

## METHODS

### Participants

This research involved pre-service teachers in mathematic, biology, physics and chemistry in faculty of science education IAIN Batusangkar, Indonesia. The participants who have filled out this questionnaire were 321 pre-service teachers, consisting of 38 men and 283 women from a population of 403 pre-service teachers. The level of confidential value of the research participants was in the range of 3.70 - 5.40%. The number of participants in mathematic education was 106 people, and only 92 pre-service teachers (Male=15 and Female=77) have completed the questionnaire. So, that the level of confidential score was 3.73%. The number of participants in biology education were 195 pre-service teachers, and only 137 pre-service teachers (Male=14 and Female=123) have completed the questionnaire. So, the level of confidential score was 4.57%. The number of participants in physics education were 58 pre-service teachers, and only 53 pre-service teachers (Male=8 and Female=45) have completed the questionnaire. So that the level of confidential score was 3.987%. The number of participants in the chemistry education was 44 pre-service teachers and only 39 pre-service teachers (Male=1 and Female=38) who completed the questionnaire. So, that the level of confidential score was 5.35%. The summary of the participants was summarized in Table 1.

**Tabel 1** Summary of research participants of 21st century skill pre-service teacher

Departments	N	Sample			Level of confidence (%)
		Male	Female	Total	
Mathematic	106	15	77	92	3.73
Biology	195	14	123	137	4.57
Physic	58	8	45	53	3.98
Chemistry	44	1	38	39	5.35
Total	403	38	283	321	

The questionnaire consisted of aspects of thinking, acting and living (TAL) of the 21<sup>st</sup> century skill, and it included 16 indicators and 78 statements (Greenstein, 2012). Thinking concists of critical thinking (CritT), problem solving (PS), creativity (Creat), metacognition (Metacog). Acting is made from communicating (Comm), debate (Deb), collaborating (Col), digital literacy (DL), technology literacy (TL). Living involved civics and citizenship (CC), global (Glob), leaderships and responsibility (LR), work ethic (WE), college/career/workplace

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Commented [reviewer13]: ? what is confidential value?

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom), Highlight

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom), Highlight

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

(CCW), flexibility/adaptability (FA), initiative/motivation (IM). This questionnaire has a rating scale of 1-4, with details at level 1: emerging tier = 2.0 to 2.7 (beginning, novice, poor, serious error, incomplete); level 2: able tier = 2.8 to 3.1 (developing, basic, fair, some misconception, partial); level 3: skilled tier = 3.2 to 3.5 (accomplished, proficient, good, meets requirements, mostly complete; level 4: top tier = 3.6 to 4.0 (exemplary, advanced, excellent, goes beyond requirements, fully complete). Researchers have translated from English into Indonesian to be more easily understood by participants (Greenstein, 2012).

### **Data Collection and Analysis**

This research was conducted by a survey design. A survey design provides a quantitative or numeric description of trends, attitudes, or opinions of a population by studying a sample of that population (Gay, Mills, & Airasian, 2009). In this research, thinking, acting and living (TAL) skills was as independent variables, and gender and departement was as dependent variables.

The TAL's instrument was given and filled by pre-service teachers in accordance with the results of the sample calculation has written in Table 1. The quality of the instrument was achieved use confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) and alpha Cronbach tests. These tests were taken as both are considered to be the credible ways to conduct instrument validation (Suhr, 2018; Chai, Deng, Tsai, & Koh, 2015; Jia, Oh, Sibuma, LaBanca, & Lorentson, 2016; Sang, Liang, Chai, Dong, & Tsai, 2018). While for achieving instrument reliability, Alpha cronbach test was employed. The result of validation and realibility this activity will be determined the quality of the instrument. Furthermore, this analysis used refer to the survey technique analysis was described by Creswell (2014). The step of analyzing the data were make a report about the number of sample members surveyed and those not surveyed, made a table of the number of respondents and the percentage, discuss the bias of respondents and their influence on research and used the multiple comparisons with Tukey HSD and LSD test for factor of the 21st century skills. The calculation of the data was conduct by using descriptive and inferential statistics with the *SPSS 21 for Windows*.

## **RESULTS**

### **The Quality of TAL's Instrument in 21st Century Skill for Pre-service Teachers**

Pattern/structure coefficients for thinking, acting and living instrument with CFA test was summarized on Table 2, 3 and 4. The table shows that score for each item was at range 0.6 – 0.9. The result of validity with CFA indicates that the highest score is found in living



( $\chi^2=676.71$ ), followed by thinking ( $\chi^2=479.55$ ) and acting ( $\chi^2=479.55$ ). The score of *Root Mean Square Error of Approximation* on each factor were thinking ( $RMSEA=0.055$ ), acting ( $RMSEA=0.047$ ) and living ( $RMSEA=0.047$ ). This RMSEA value shows that this instrument model was accepted, because RMSEA value was in the range of values 0-1 (Hu and Bentler, 1999). As noted in Table 5, pre-service teachers in MBPC have a 21st century skill with the highest mean score in living ( $M=72.22$ ), then followed by thinking ( $M=66.94$ ), and acting ( $M=65.12$ ). This result shows that this instrument was valid. The cronbach alpha test results listed in Table 5 also indicates that this instrument was reliable (*Cronbach's Alpha* = .940, *N items*=78).

**Table 2** Pattern/structure coefficients for thinking

Item	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4
CritT1	0.97			
CritT2	0.84			
CritT3	0.81			
CritT4	0.87			
CritT5	0.90			
PS1		0.81		
PS2		0.83		
PS3		0.73		
PS4		0.76		
PS5		0.78		
PS6		0.81		
PS7		0.84		
PS8		0.64		
Creat1			0.67	
Creat2			0.84	
Creat3			0.87	
Creat4			0.79	
Creat5			0.82	
Creat6			0.79	
Creat7			0.82	
MetaCog1				0.86
MetaCog2				0.82
MetaCog3				0.78
MetaCog4				0.76

**Table 3** Pattern/structure coefficients for acting

Item	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4	Factor 5
Comm1	0.84				
Comm2	0.73				
Comm3	0.73				
Comm4	0.88				
Deb1		0.58			
Deb2		0.87			
Deb3		0.64			
Deb4		0.77			
Deb5		0.67			
Deb6		0.83			
Coll			0.78		

Formatted	... [1]
Formatted	... [2]
Formatted	... [3]
Formatted	... [4]
Formatted	... [5]
Formatted	... [6]
Formatted	... [7]
Formatted	... [8]
Formatted	... [9]
Formatted	... [10]
Formatted	... [11]
Formatted	... [12]
Formatted	... [13]
Formatted	... [14]
Formatted	... [15]
Formatted	... [16]
Formatted	... [17]
Formatted	... [18]
Formatted	... [19]
Formatted	... [20]
Formatted	... [21]
Formatted	... [22]
Formatted	... [23]
Formatted	... [24]
Formatted	... [25]
Formatted	... [26]
Formatted	... [27]
Formatted	... [28]
Formatted	... [29]
Formatted	... [30]
Formatted	... [31]
Formatted	... [32]
Formatted	... [33]
Formatted	... [34]
Formatted	... [35]
Formatted	... [36]
Formatted	... [37]
Formatted	... [38]
Formatted	... [39]
Formatted	... [40]
Formatted	... [41]
Formatted	... [42]
Formatted	... [43]
Formatted	... [44]
Formatted	... [45]
Formatted	... [46]
Formatted	... [47]
Formatted	... [48]
Formatted	... [49]
Formatted	... [50]
Formatted	... [51]
Formatted	... [52]
Formatted	... [53]
Formatted	... [54]
Formatted	... [55]
Formatted	... [56]

Col2				0.80			
Col3				0.64			
Col4				0.75			
DL1					0.70		
DL2					0.77		
DL3					0.84		
DL4					0.88		
TL1						0.71	
TL2						0.64	
TL3						0.97	
TL4						0.74	
TL5						0.72	
TL6						0.83	

**Table 4** Pattern/structure coefficients for living

Item	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4	Factor 5	Factor 6	Factor 7
CC1	0.94						
CC2	0.80						
CC3	0.74						
Glob1		0.79					
Glob2		0.85					
Glob3		0.52					
Glob4		0.58					
Glob5		0.68					
LR1			0.87				
LR2			0.79				
LR3			0.79				
WE1				0.75			
WE2				0.69			
WE3				0.92			
WE4				0.65			
WE5				0.78			
WE6				0.63			
WE7				0.74			
CCW1					0.71		
CCW2					0.71		
CCW3					0.71		
CCW4					0.66		
CCW5					0.64		
FA1						0.71	
FA2						0.87	
FA3						0.56	
JM1							0.71
JM2							0.87
JM3							0.64
JM4							0.62

**Table 5** Goodness of fit indicators for factor solutions and Cronbach's Alpha for item of instrument

Factor	N	Mean	SD	$\chi^2$	df	$\chi^2/df$	RMSEA	N item	Cronbach's Alpha
Thinking	321	66.94	10.16	479.55	242	0.00000	0.055		
Acting	321	65.12	9.62	416.30	243	0.00000	0.047	78	940
Living	321	72.33	10.58	676.71	398	0.00000	0.047		

Formatted	... [112]
Formatted	... [113]
Formatted	... [114]
Formatted	... [115]
Formatted	... [116]
Formatted	... [117]
Formatted	... [118]
Formatted	... [119]
Formatted	... [120]
Formatted	... [121]
Formatted	... [122]
Formatted	... [123]
Formatted	... [124]
Formatted	... [125]
Formatted	... [126]
Formatted	... [127]
Formatted	... [128]
Formatted	... [129]
Formatted	... [130]
Formatted	... [131]
Formatted	... [132]
Formatted	... [133]
Formatted	... [134]
Formatted	... [135]
Formatted	... [136]
Formatted	... [137]
Formatted	... [138]
Formatted	... [139]
Formatted	... [140]
Formatted	... [141]
Formatted	... [142]
Formatted	... [143]
Formatted	... [144]
Formatted	... [145]
Formatted	... [146]
Formatted	... [147]
Formatted	... [148]
Formatted	... [149]
Formatted	... [150]
Formatted	... [151]
Formatted	... [152]
Formatted	... [153]
Formatted	... [154]
Formatted	... [155]
Formatted	... [156]
Formatted	... [157]
Formatted	... [158]
Formatted	... [159]
Formatted	... [160]
Formatted	... [161]
Formatted	... [162]
Formatted	... [163]
Formatted	... [164]
Formatted	... [165]
Formatted	... [166]
Formatted	... [167]

### Investigating the Profile of TAL for Pre-service Teachers

The profile of 21st century skill for pre-service teachers in MBFC shows that the living's score for pre-service teachers was highest than the thinking's and acting's scores (see Table 6). This finding indicates that the skills of pre-service teachers in MBFC was at the level 2 (able tier). Then, the result of multiple comparisons with Tukey HSD and LSD test for factor department was showed that there were significant different score 21st century skill for pre-service teacher in MBPC. Then, the multiple comparison with Tukey HSD were conducted to investigated the differences of 21st century skill in each department was showed that, there were for significance different between 21st century skill for each department in MBPC. Based on this explanation, it can be concluded that the level of 21st century skill pre-service teacher in mathematic was related to physics, and biology was related to chemistry.

**Table 6** Profile of thinking, acting and living for pre-service teachers of MBPC

Departement	Skill	M ± SD
Mathematic (N=92)	Thinking	63.19 ± 8.19
	Acting	63.19 ± 7.54
	Living	70.42 ± 8.82
	Total	65.60 ± 8.85 <sup>a,b**</sup>
Biology (N=137)	Thinking	69.73 ± 10.46
	Acting	66.90 ± 9.78
	Living	73.71 ± 11.23
	Total	70.11 ± 11.25 <sup>a,b*</sup>
Physic (N=49)	Thinking	64.17 ± 10.08
	Acting	63.68 ± 9.84
	Living	70.97 ± 11.14
	Total	66.27 ± 10.82 <sup>a,b**</sup>
Chemistry (N=43)	Thinking	69.23 ± 9.97
	Acting	65.18 ± 11.82
	Living	72.79 ± 10.81
	Total	69.07 ± 11.25 <sup>a,b*</sup>
Total (N=321)	Thinking	66.94 ± 10.15
	Acting	65.12 ± 9.61
	Living	72.22 ± 10.58

<sup>a,b</sup> The mean difference is significant with LSD and HSD test at the .05 level

\* The Means for groups in homogeneous with HSD test at the .05 level

\*\* The Means for groups in homogeneous with HSD test at the .05 level

The result about the gap in profile of thinking, acting and living for male and female for pre-service teachers was showed in Table 7. This finding shows that there was no significant difference ( $p > 0.05$ ;  $0.468 < P\text{-value} < 0.640$ ) between the profile of 21st century skill between male and female.

**Table 7** Gap in profile of thinking, acting and living for male and female for pre-service teachers

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)



Gender	N	M ± SD	SE Mean	Levene's Test	t-Test
Male	38	68.76 ± 8.94	1.45005	.044 < .834	.468 < .640
Female	282	68.04 ± 8.86	.52745		

Levene's Test for Equality of Variances (0.05) and t-Test for Equality of Means (0.05)

The result about the gap in profile between thinking, acting and living for pre-service teachers was presented in Table 8. These results of multiple comparisons with LSD was showed that there were significant differences in mean factor scores at level 0.05. For example, the mean gap between thinking and acting has of 1.8300. This result was a significance value .023 at  $p > 0.05$ . Based on these explanations, its concluded that (a) there were different between score of thinking, acting and living for pre-service teachers in MBFC; (b) there was no interaction between gender and TAL and (c) the contribution of gender to TAL was 8%.

**Table 8** Gap in profile between thinking, acting and living for pre-service teachers

Main Skill	Subskill	Mean Difference
Thinking	Acting	1.8300*
	Living	-5.2596*
Acting	Thinking	-1.8300*
	Living	-7.0896*
Living	Thinking	5.2596*
	Acting	7.0896*

Based on observed means. The error term is Mean Square(Error) = 102.695.

\* The mean difference is significant at the .05 level.

### Relationships among the Factors of 21st Century skill

The result of the study about gap between factor factors of 21st century skill suggests that the dependent test score for thinking, acting and living between gender was the F corrected model score was 17.295 > .000, and the value of  $R$  squared=.083 and adjusted  $R$  squared=.078 (see table 9). The data in Table 9 also shows that the dependent test score for thinking, acting and living between department were the F corrected model score (12.224) > (.000), and the value of  $R$  squared=.124 and adjusted  $R$  squared=.114. This result indicates that the contribution of gender and department were 12.4%. These findings indicates that there is no relationships between thinking, acting and living with gender, and there is no interactions between thinking, acting and living with department. But, the findings also indicated that there is difference between 21st century skill for pre-service teacher in MBPC.

**Table 9** Gap between factor factors of 21st century skill

Factor	Type III Sum of Squares	R Squared	Adjusted R Squared	F
TAL vs Gender	8880.562	.083	.078	17.295
TAL vs Department	13281.488	.124	.114	12.224

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)



## DISCUSSIONS

At the measurement of the quality of instrument, the use of the CFA test has shown that the construction of the factors in the instrument has been identified. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) described as orderly simplification of interrelated measures and the number of constructs and the underlying factor structure are identified (Suhr, 2018). Suhr (2018) also stated, the goals of factors are to help the investigator to determine the number of latent constructs, to provide a few newly created variables (factors), and define the content or meaning of factors. This result were also supported by other findings. Mahat, Hashim, Nayan, Saleh & Norkhaidi (2018) conducted a confirmatory factor analysis of malaysian primary school students' energy saving practices , and found that the cronbach's alpha value, which was higher than 0.70, was high and acceptable. Jia, Oh, Sibuma, LaBanca, & Lorentson (2016) was found that the validity and reliability of EFA and CFA was conducted in 16 subjects: information literacy, collaboration, communication, innovation and creativity, problem solving, and responsible citizenship. In line with this study, Taber (2017) has written that the use of Cronbach' s alpha when developing and reporting research instruments in science education, and also stated (a) Cronbach's alpha is a statistic commonly quoted by authors to demonstrate that tests and scales that have been constructed or adopted for research projects are fit for purpose, and (b) a high value of alpha offers limited evidence of the reliability of a research instrument, and that indeed a very high value may actually be undesirable when developing a test of scientific knowledge or understanding.

At the 21st century skill level mastery, this study was found that 21st century of pre-service teachers in MBPC were at level 2. According to Geinsteiner (2012), the conversions of level 2 (able tier=2.8-3.1) likely developing, basic, fair, some misconception and partial. The findings of this study showed that students need an increase in 21st century skills in the process of learning. Because to help students build twenty-fist century learning skills, teachers must have reasonable perceptions about twenty-fist century learning (Sang, Liang, Chai, Dong, & Tsai, 2018).

At the factors of 21st century skill, the result of this study showed that gender and department factors have not contributed to the emergence of 21st century skills for pre-service teachers in MBPC. These findings indicated that during the learning process, pre-service teachers in MBPC have obtained a 21st century skill from the learning process. This study

similarity with other study showed that the creative thinking levels of preservice science teachers do not differ significantly with respect to gender, year of study, the type of school they graduated from, or their parents' educational background (Bakır & Öztekin, 2014). The results of this study also showed that there was interaction in thinking, acting and living indicators in the learning process. Thus, these findings indicated that the use of strategies or learning methods was thought to still be the main factor determining the emergence of 21st century skill for pre-service teachers.

The finding of this study showed that the level of 21st century skill of pre-service teacher in MBPC was limited to IQF competencies. According to the IQF document, the learning outcomes higher education in Indonesia must be at level 6 or/and 7. The characteristics of these levels were the learning outcomes are capabilities acquired through the internalization of knowledge, attitudes, skills, competencies, and accumulated work experience. This finding also indicated that the teachers must find a solution to overcome this problem, for example strengthen the use of learning methods.

This study suggests that teachers who teach at MBPC are better able to synthesize the 21st century skills of their students. There are several steps that can be taken that teachers have to; play a role in synthesizing 21st century students' skills, facilitate and inspire students, design and develop learning experiences, revise lesson plans, use models for teaching enhanced 21st century skills, and use the evaluating and authentic learning (Haviz, Karomah, Delfita, Umar, & Maris, 2018). Because in principle, evaluation of century-based learning is more about the products produced by students. Greeinstein (2012) explain that alternative and authentic evaluations can demonstrate students' knowledge and skills in real terms. The types of assessment in 21st century based learning are rubric, student contracts, self assessment, peer reviews, observations, total records, concept maps, questioning, conferences and portfolio reviews. The teachers must conduct the assessment based on 21st century learning.

## CONCLUSION

This study provides several conclusions that the quality of 21st century skill instruments for pre-service teachers in mathematic, biology, physic and chemistry was valid and reliable. The study was found that the 21st century skill of pre-service teachers was at level 2. TAL and gender factors were not a determining factor for the emergence of 21st century skills for pre-service teacher students at MBPC. The ability of pre-service teachers in mathematics related to physics, and the ability of pre-service teachers on biology also related to chemistry. Specifically, this study suggests the need to study the use of learning curricula and teacher



perceptions as other factors in 21st century skills for pre-service teachers. The result this study suggests to strengthen the use of appropriate learning methods to bring 21st century skills to pre-service teachers in mathematic, biology, physics and chemistry of education.

#### Acknowledgments

This research is funded by IAIN Batusangkar Research Fund (B-425d/In.27/R.IV/TL.00/05/2018).

#### REFERENCES

- Abdullah, N., Halim, L., & Zakaria, E. (2014). VStops: a thinking strategy and visual representation approach in mathematical word problem solving toward enhancing stem literacy. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 10(3), 165-174. <https://doi.org/10.12973/eurasia.2014.1073a>.
- Ahonen, A. K., & Kinnunen, P. (2015). How do students value the importance of twenty-first century skills? *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 59(4), 395-412. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2014.904423>.
- Ainley, J., Fraillon, J., Schulz, W., & Gebhardt, E. (2016). Conceptualizing and measuring computer and information literacy in cross-national contexts. 29(4), 291-309. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08957347.2016.120>.
- Argaw, A. S., Haile, B. B., Ayalew, B. T., & Kuma, S. G. (2017). The effect of problem based learning (pbl) instruction on students' motivation and problem solving skills of physics. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics Science and Technology*, 13(3), 857-871. <https://doi.org/10.12973/eurasia.2017.00647a>.
- Bahri, A., & Corebima, A. D. (2015). The contribution of learning motivation and metacognitive skill on cognitive learning outcome of students within different learning strategies. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 14(4), 487-500. <http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/abstract.php?icid=1169904>.
- Bakır, S., & Öztekin, E. (2014). Creative thinking levels of preservice science teachers in terms of different variables. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 13(2), 231-242. <http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/abstract.php?icid=1101950>.
- Bélanger, R. E., Akre, C., Berchtold, A., & Michaud, P. A. (2011). A U-shaped association between intensity of Internet use and adolescent health. *Pediatrics*, 127(2), 330-335. <https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/pediatrics/127/2/e330.full.pdf>.

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

- Bell, S. (2010). Project-based learning for the 21st century: skills for the future. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 83(2), 39-43. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00098650903505415>.
- Burden, J., & Hall, A. (2005). Biology in the twenty first century: a new curriculum for school science. *Journal of Biological Education*, 40(1), 6-10. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00219266.2005.9656001>.
- Chai, C. S., Deng, F., Tsai, P. S., & Koh, J. H. (2015). Assessing multidimensional students' perceptions of twenty-first century learning practices. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 16(3), 389-398. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-015-9379-4>
- Chen, J. (2014). Teachers' conceptions of approaches to teaching: a Chinese perspective. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 24(2), 341-351. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-014-0184-3>.
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (2011). *About the standards*. <http://www.corestandards.org/about-the-standards>.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research Design: Quantitative, Qualitative and Mixed Method Approaches* (4th ed.). California: SAGE Publication, Inc.
- Damar, S. Y., Özdemir, Ö. F., & Unal, C. (2015). Pre-service physics teachers' metacognitive knowledge about their instructional practices. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 11(5), 1009-1026. <https://doi.org/10.12973/eurasia.2015.1370a>.
- DiCerbo, K. (2014). Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, 21(4), 502-505. <https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2014.931836>
- Duran, E., Yaussy, D., & Yaussy, L. (2011). Race to the future: Integrating 21st century skills into science instruction. *Science Activities: Classroom Projects and Curriculum Ideas*, 48(3), 98-106. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00368121.2010.535222>.
- Duran, M., & Dökme, İ. (2016). The effect of the inquiry-based learning approach on student's critical-thinking skills. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 12(12), 2887-2908. <https://doi.org/10.12973/eurasia.2016.02311a>.
- Elder, L. (2007). Another brief conceptualization of critical thinking. <http://www.criticalthinking.org/pages/defining-critical-thinking/766>.
- Ercikan, K., & Oliveri, M. E. (2016). In search of validity evidence in support of the interpretation and use of assessments of complex constructs: discussion of research on



- assessing 21st century skills. *Applied Measurement in Education*, 29(4), 310-318. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08957347.2016.1209210>.
- Fry, S., & Seely, S. (2011). Enhancing preservice elementary teachers' 21st-century information and media literacy skills. *Action in Teacher Education*, 33(2), 206-218. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01626620.2011.569468>.
- Gay, L. R., Mills, G. E., & Airasian, P. W. (2009). *Educational research, competencies for analysis and application* (9th ed.). New Jersey: Pearson Education.
- Geisinger, K. F. (2016). 21st century skills: What are they and how do we assess them? *Applied Measurement in Education*, 29(4), 245-249. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08957347.2016.1209207>.
- Greenstein, L. (2012). *Assesing 21st century skill. a guide to evaluating mastery and authentic learning*. California: SAGE Company. <https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED534306>.
- Greiff, S., & Kyllonen, P. (2016). Contemporary assessment challenges: the measurement of 21st century skills. *Applied Measurement in Education*, 29(4), 243-244. <https://doi.org/10.1080/08957347.2016.1209209>.
- Haviz, M. (2018). Development of research-based learning model in biology education: what is relevance, concystency and practicality? *Journal of Education and Learning (EduLearn)*, 12(1), 143-149. <http://dx.doi.org/10.11591/edulearn.v12i1.6555>.
- Haviz, M., Karomah, H., Delfita, R., Umar, M. I. A., & Maris, I. M. (2018). Revisiting generic science skills as 21st century skills on biology learning. *Jurnal Pendidikan IPA Indonesia*, 7(3), 355-363. <https://journal.unnes.ac.id/nju/index.php/jpii/article/view/12438>.
- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indices in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 6, 1-55. <https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118>.
- Jia, Y., Oh, Y. J., Sibuma, B., LaBanca, F., & Lorentson, M. (2016). Measuring twenty-first century skills: development and validation of a scale for in-service and pre-service teachers. *Teacher Development: An international Journal of Teachers' Professional Development*, 20(2), 229-252. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2016.1143870>.
- Kan'an, A. 2018. The relationship between Jordanian students' 21 st century skills (Cs21) and academic achievement in science. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 15(2), 82-94. doi: 10.12973/tused.10232a.

- Kaufman, K. J. (2013). 21 ways to 21st century skills: Why students need them and ideas for practical implementation. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 49(2), 78-83. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2013.786594>.
- Lambert, J., & Gong, Y. (2010). 21st century paradigms for pre-service teacher technology preparation. *Computers in the Schools Interdisciplinary Journal of Practice, Theory, and Applied Research*, 27(1), 54-70. <https://doi.org/10.1080/07380560903536272>.
- Larson, L. C., & Miller, T. N. (2011). 21st century skills: Prepare students for the future. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 47(3), 121-123. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2011.10516575>.
- Listiana, L., Susilo, H., Suwono, H., & Suarsini, E. (2016). Empowering students' metacognitive skills through new teaching strategy (group investigation integrated with think talk write) in biology classroom. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 15(3), 391-400. <http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/abstract.php?icid=1211248>.
- Lucas, B. (2016). A five-dimensional model of creativity and its assessment in schools. *Applied Measurement in Education*, 29(4), 278-290. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08957347.2016.120920>.
- Mahat, H, Hashim, M, Nayan, N, Saleh Y & Norkhaidi, S.B. 2018. A confirmatory factor analysis of malaysian primary school students' energy saving practices. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 15(3), 52-63. doi: 10.12973/tused.10237a.
- Muhammad, A., & Osman, K. (2010). Inventive thinking skills in science: A comparative study between students in Malaysia and Brunei. *International Journal of Learning*, 17(9), 227-236. <https://ukm.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/inventive-thinking>
- Rowland, G. (2007). Towards a new biology curriculum. *Journal of Biological Education*, 41(3), 99-101. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00219266.2007.9656076>.
- Sang, G., Liang, J. C., Chai, C. S., Dong, Y., & Tsai, C. C. (2018). Teachers' actual and preferred perceptions of twenty-first century learning competencies: a Chinese perspective. *Asia Pacific Education Review*. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-018-9522-0>.
- Şener, N., & Taş, E. (2017). Improving of students' creative thinking through purdue model in science education. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 16(3), 350-365. <http://oaji.net/articles/2017/987-1497964027.pdf>.
- Suhr, D. D. (2018). *Exploratory or Confirmatory Factor Analysis?* <http://www2.sas.com/proceedings/sugi31/200-31.pdf>.
- Taber, K. S. (2017). The use of Cronbach's alpha when developing and reporting research instrumen in science education. *Res. Sci. Educ.* <http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9602-2>.



- Tokmak, H.S., Incikabi, L. & Ozgelen, S. (2012). An investigation of change in mathematics, science, and literacy education pre-service teachers' TPACK. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 22(4), 407–415. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-012-0040-2>.
- Trilling, B., & Fadel, C. (2009). *21st Century Skills: Learning for Life in Our Times*. San Francisco, California: John Wiley & Sons.
- Tritschler, K. (2008). Cultural competence a 21st-century leadership skill. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 79(1), 7-8. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2008.10598107>.
- Tunncliffe, S. D. (2007). No time to teach life saving skills? essential first aid within biology lessons. *Journal of Biological Education*, 42(1), 3-4. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00219266.2007.9656099>.
- Unver, A. O. (2015). Thinking in terms of variables: the concept of the shadow. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 14(3), 295-310. <http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/abstract.php?icid=1161058>
- Wang, Y., Lavonen, J., & Tirri, K. (2018). Aims for learning 21st century competencies in national primary science curricula in china and finland. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 14(6), 2081 -2095. <https://doi.org/10.29333/ejmste/86363>.
- Wartono, W., Hudha, M. N., & Batlolona, J. R. (2018). How are the physics critical thinking skills of the students taught by using inquiry-discovery through empirical and theoretical overview. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics Science and Technology*, 14(2), 691-697. <https://doi.org/10.12973/ejmste/80632>.
- Williams, J. (2005). Skill as metaphor: an analysis of terminology used in success for all and 21st century skills. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 29(2), 181-190. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03098770500103598>.

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)